I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND INTRODUCTION 

Petitioner United Airlines, Inc. ("UAL") respectfully requests 

this Court to review the Court of Appeals' opinion below. 

This matter arises out of Department of Revenue's ("DOR") 

assessment of possessory interest taxes on airport property leased 

by UAL at SeaTac Airport for tax-assessed years 2009-2011. During 

this period, UAL leased airport property from the Port of Seattle, a 

tax-exempt entity ("Port"), under a six-year lease with no option to 

renew. For those tax years, DOR assessed taxes against UAL for 

the Port's tax-exempt reversionary property interest. UAL 

challenged those assessments under the "manifest error" provisions 

of RCW 84.69.020. A "manifest error" occurs when taxes are 

assessed against "property exempted by law from taxation." WAC 

458-14-005(14)(h). UAL presented sworn statements from experts 

to the trial court below, confirming DOR assessed taxes against UAL 

for the tax-exempt Port-owned property. 

The Court of Appeals mischaracterized the issue as one of 

"valuation" requiring the exercise of "appraisal judgment," not 

correctable under RCW 84.69, and disregarded UAL's expert's 

testimony. The Court of Appeals erred when it accepted DOR's 

position that the reversionary interest of the Port was "nil." This is 
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not allowed by the Washington Supreme Court holdings of Pier 67 

II, Inc. v. King County, 78 Wn. 2d 48, 469 P.2d 902 (1970) (actual 

lease term must be taken into account), or Duwamish Warehouse 

v. Hoppe, 102 Wn.2d 249, 684 P.2d 703 (1984) (reversionary 

interest of public entity must be accounted for and backed out of any 

appraisal of publicly owned property). 

As Pier 67 required DOR to use the actual term of the lease, 

it was impossible for the reversionary interest of the Port to be "nil" 

when UAL had a six-year lease of Airport Property. The reversionary 

interest of the Port had to have some value, which must be 

accounted for (and not taxed) pursuant to Duwamish. 

This Court should accept review and confirm it was manifest 

error for DOR to have assessed taxes against UAL for the Port of 

Seattle's tax-exempt reversionary interest. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

UAL asks this Court to review the June 6, 2016 opinion of the 

Court of Appeals in this matter (the "Opinion"). The Opinion upheld 

DOR's assessment of taxes against UAL for the Port's tax-exempt 

reversionary property interest by affirming the trial court's grant of 

summary judgment in favor of DOR and against UAL. A copy of the 

Opinion is attached as Appendix A. 
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Ill. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the Court of Appeals err when it characterized UAL's 

dispute as one of "valuation" requiring the exercise of "appraisal 

judgment," rather than one regarding the "manifest error" of 

assessing taxes against tax-exempt property under RCW 84.69.020, 

despite the definition of "manifest error" including "[t]he assessment 

of property exempted by law from taxation," WAC 458-14-

005(14)(h), and UAL's expert testimony confirming the methodology 

used by DOR improperly assessed taxes against UAL for tax-exempt 

Port-owned property? 

2. Did the Court of Appeals err when it refused to apply 

controlling Washington State Supreme Court precedent, Pier 67 II, 

Inc. v. King County, 78 Wn.2d 48, 469 P.2d 902 (1970), and 

Duwamish Warehouse v. Hoppe, 102 Wn.2d 249, 684 P.2d 703 

(1984), which require DOR to consider the actual term of the 

applicable lease and to take into account any tax-exempt 

reversionary interest when assessing taxes against a possessory 

interest? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. UAL leases property at SeaTac Airport subject to a 
possessory interest property tax. 

UAL operates a commercial airline, including operations at 
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SeaTac International Airport in King County, Washington (the "Airline 

Property"). SeaTac Airport is owned by the Port - a public entity 

exempt from real estate tax. RCW 84.40.010(1). Airlines like UAL 

are subject to a "possessory interest" tax, which is not defined by 

Washington statute or code. 

A "possessory interest" is a private party's right of possession 

and use of real property owned by a tax-exempt public entity for a 

period of time. DOR Property Tax Bulletin #70-14 specifically defines 

it as "a portion of the bundle of rights that would normally be included 

in fee simple ownership," making it an ownership interest "for some 

time less than perpetuity," with a value "normally something less than 

the value in perpetuity of the whole bundle." CP 259 (emphasis 

added). 

On January 1, 2006, UAL entered into a six-year lease (no 

renewal option) with the Port for the use of certain defined Airport 

Property. CP 574-578; CP 579-693. 

B. From 2006-2011, DOR changed its methodology for 
assessing possessory interests in Airport 
Properties, resulting in taxation of the Port's tax
exempt reversionary interest. 

Before 2006, DOR assessed Airport Properties using an 

assumed lease term of seven years. CP 299-302. Starting in 2006, 
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DOR adopted an assessment methodology, which assessed 

possessory interests as if the tenant owned the property in fee. DOR 

assumed a hypothetical perpetual lease term. CP 228-249; CP 306; 

CP 309; CP 320-321; CP 452. This change in methodology 

increased the assessed value of Airport Properties significantly. CP 

452. 

After receiving complaints from other airlines, including 

Alaska and Southwest, DOR admitted its 2006-2011 methodology 

resulted in taxation of the Port's tax-exempt ownership interests. 

Kathy Seith, DOR's Assistant Director of Property Tax Division, 

admitted, "[t]he possessory leases of Alaska Airlines are assessed 

in the same manner as if they owned the property." CP 304-305. 

Ms. Seith testified in her April 9, 2015 deposition: 

• A possessory interest is valued at something less than the 
entire bundle of rights associated with fee ownership. CP 
328. 

• A possessory interest is the right of ownership of property 
for some time less than perpetuity. CP 328-329. 

• In assessing the Airport Properties, DORis attempting to 
assess the possessory interest of the airline company, 
which is "something less than the fee interest in the 
property." CP 319. 

• DOR's 2006-2011 methodology valued the possessory 
interests of the airline airport properties as if they owned 
the fee interest in the property. CP 333. 
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• DOR's 2006-2011 methodology assumed the value for the 
reversionary interests of the Port to be "zero" or "nil". CP 
330-331. 

• DOR's 2006-2011 methodology resulted in an increased 
assessed value of at least three times the previously 
assessed value of the same properties. CP 320-321. 

C. DOR's methodology assessed taxes against UAL 
for the Port's tax-exempt reversionary interest. 

For 2009-2011, DOR assessed UAL Airline Property 

assuming a perpetual lease term for Airport Property leased from the 

Port and a zero value for the Port's reversionary interest, even 

though UAL's actual lease expired in 2012. CP 451-453; CP 576; 

CP 581. Upon discovering DOR's error, UAL filed a claim under 

RCW 84.69.020 requesting a refund of taxes paid as a result of a 

"manifest error". CP 454; CP 581-582; CP 576. On February 19, 

2013, King County denied UAL's refund claim. CP 530. 

The total tax refund due UAL for assessed years 2009, 2010 

and 2011 is: 2009 (201 0 taxes) $555,906; 2010 (2011 taxes) 

$473,594; 2011 (2012 taxes) $548,165. CP 455. 

D. Trial Court. 

This matter came up on appeal before the Court of Appeals 

after the Trial Court, on cross motions for summary judgment, 

dismissed UAL's claims. In support of its motion and in opposition 

to DOR's motion, UAL's expert, David Hunnicutt, an MAl certified 
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commercial real estate appraiser, offered expert opinions, on a more 

probable than not basis, and to a reasonable degree of certainty in 

his profession as follows: 

(1) The methodology used by the DOR to value and 
assess UAL leasehold possessory interests at SeaTac 
for 2009, 2010, and 2011, failed to account for the 
reversionary interest of the Port of Seattle. 
(2) As a result, the calculations relied upon by DOR for 
value, improperly took into account the value of the tax 
exempt interest of the Port. 
(3) The DOR when assessing taxes for UAL's 
possessory interests in airport properties, effectively 
taxed UAL as if it owned the airport properties in fee 
simple. 
(4) UAL was assessed taxes for exempt Port-owned 
property. 

CP 228-249. 

Neal Cook, DOR's appraisal expert, offered the following 

contradictory opinions: 

(1) The methodology used by the DOR from 2006-
2011 "produced an accurate estimate of the value of 
the property rights transferred to a lessee .... " 
(2) The methodology used by DOR from 2006 - 2011 
to assess possessory interests "did not include the 
value estimate of the lessor's reversionary interest". 
(3) The methodology used did not value the fee simple 
interest of the subject property. 

CP 170-200. 

Mr. Cook claimed DOR engaged in a two-step process to 

calculate UAL's possessory interest, as follows: 
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In the first step of the two-step calculation the 
value of the beneficial rights transferred to the lessee 
of the property was computed by capitalizing the net 
annual lease payments for a single year using a 
capitalization rate ... 

In the second step of the calculation, the present 
value of the government owner's reversionary interest 
in the beneficial rights was estimated and subtracted to 
arrive at the estimated market value of the non
government lessee's beneficial rights. 

CP 170-200. However, DOR never calculated the value of the 

reversionary interest owned by the tax-exempt Port as required by 

step two. Mr. Cook further claimed DOR's methodology did not 

assess taxes on the Port's exempt interest, but Cook and DOR failed 

to explain how the Port's interest was accounted for or excluded from 

the assessment. CP 170-200; CP 29-92; CP 813-821. As a result, 

Port-owned exempt property was valued and assessed against UAL. 

CP 446-573; CP 813-821; CP 228-249. 

Notwithstanding conflicting expert opinions on a material 

issue, the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of DOR and 

against UAL. CP 839. UAL filed the underlying appeal. CP 845. 

E. Court of Appeals ruling. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision, 

characterizing the issue as one of "valuation" requiring the exercise 

of "appraisal judgment," which is not correctable under RCW 84.69. 
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Appendix A. 

The Court of Appeals refused to apply controlling state 

precedent of Pier 6711, Inc. v. King County, 78 Wn.2d 48, 469 P.2d 

902 (1970), and Duwamish Warehouse v. Hoppe, 102 Wn.2d 249, 

684 P.2d 703 (1984), which require DOR to take into account the 

actual lease term, and the value of the tax-exempt reversionary 

interest when assessing leasehold/possessory interest taxes. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review. 

On appeal, a trial court's summary judgment ruling is reviewed 

de novo. See Keates v. City of Vancouver, 73 Wn. App. 257, 263, 

869 P.2d 88 (1994). The appellate court engages in the same inquiry 

as the trial court in determining whether summary judgment is 

appropriate. Lybbert v. Grant County, State of Wash., 141 Wn.2d 

29, 34, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000). All material evidence and all reasonable 

inferences therefrom must be viewed in favor of the nonmoving party; 

if reasonable persons might reach different conclusions, the motion 

must be denied. Millikan v. Bd of Directors of Everett Sch. Dist. 

No.2, 93 Wn.2d 522, 531, 611 P.2d 414 (1980); Fairbanks v. J.B. 

McLoughlin Co., Inc., 131 Wn.2d 96, 102, 929 P.2d 433 (1997). 
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Affidavits and other testimonial documents of the party 

moving for summary judgment must be scrutinized with care, and all 

reasonable inferences from the evidence must be resolved against 

him/her, while affidavits of nonmoving party are to be afforded 

leniency. State ex rei. Murray v. Shanks, 27 Wn. App. 363, 618 

P .2d 102 (1980). "In general, an affidavit containing admissible 

expert opinion on an ultimate issue of fact is sufficient to create a 

genuine issue as to that fact, precluding summary judgment." J.N. v. 

Bellingham Sch. Dist. No. 501, 74 Wn. App. 49, 60-61, 871 P.2d 

1106 (1994) (reversing summary judgment where the trial court 

"discounted the sworn testimony of J.N.'s experts"). See also 

Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 91 Wn.2d 345, 351-53, 588 

P.2d 1346 (1979) (reversing summary judgment where the plaintiffs 

expert affidavit created at least one genuine issue of material fact). 

B. RCW 84.69.020(2) requires a refund for property 
taxes paid as a result of a "manifest error in description," which 
includes assessments against tax-exempt property like the 
Port's reversionary interest. 

Under RCW 84.69.020, ad valorem taxes shall be refunded if 

paid as a result of "manifest error in description." RCW 84.69.020(2). 

WAC 458-14-005 defines "manifest error" as "an error in listing or 

assessment, which does not involve a revaluation of property," and 
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further provides a list of items that constitute a "manifest error," 

including: 

(h) The assessment of property exempted by 
law from taxation; 

... or 

U) Any other error which can be corrected by 
reference to the records and valuation methods 
applied to similarly situated properties, without 
exercising appraisal judgment. 

WAC 458-14-005(14). 

Each item is disjunctive, meaning an error warrants correction 

if it qualifies under just one of the definitions. Regardless, the 

present case falls under both subparts (h) and U). First, DOR's 

assessments taxed exempt property owned by the Port. The 

methodology utilized by DOR from 2006-2011 assumed a lease term 

into perpetuity, ignoring the terms of the parties' actual lease and 

treating the Port's tax-exempt reversionary interest as "nil". This is 

confirmed by DOR documentation, testimony of DOR Assistant 

Director Seith, and UAL expert Hunnicutt. At a bare minimum, there 

was a disputed issue of material fact on this issue presented to the 

Trial Court which precluded summary judgment, and the Court of 

Appeals erred when it failed to reverse the Trial Court. Second, 

correction of this error can be made based upon information DOR 
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already has and does not require any appraisal judgment- all DOR 

needs to do is recalculate the amount of taxes that should have been 

assessed utilizing the existing lease term instead of a hypothetical 

perpetual lease term. 

The Court of Appeals ignored the definition of "manifest error" 

under Washington law as including "the assessment of property 

exempted by law from taxation"- which is exactly what DOR did 

when it taxed UAL. The Court also failed to accord the proper weight 

and deference to the evidence. See Fairbanks, 131 Wn.2d at 102 

and Millikan, 93 Wn.2d at 531 (all material evidence and all 

reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in favor of the 

nonmoving party; if reasonable persons might reach different 

conclusions, the motion must be denied); Lamon, 91 Wn.2d at 351-

53 and J.N., 75 Wn. App at 60-61 (summary judgment is precluded 

where an expert affidavit creates even one genuine issue of material 

fact). The Court of Appeals should have at minimum reversed the 

grant of summary judgment to DOR and remanded to the Trial Court 

for further proceedings. 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 
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C. Under Pier 67 and Duwamish Warehouse, DOR was 
required to account for the tax-exempt reversionary interest of 
the government owner, and was not permitted to ignore the term 
of the lease, when calculating UAL's possessory interest 

In Pier 6711, Inc. v. King County, 78 Wn.2d 48, 469 P.2d 902 

(1970), this Court set forth the factors DOR must consider when 

valuing a leasehold possessory interest. In Pier 67, a taxpayer 

challenged the validity of valuations for a leasehold interest and 

improvements on state-owned land. /d. at 48-49. The Court found 

that in determining the taxable value of a leasehold interest "the 

value to be taxed is the value of the right to use the property over the 

period of the lease." /d. at 56-57 (emphasis added). The Court in 

Pier 67 also noted that a leasehold interest "cannot be valued without 

reasonable knowledge of its probable remaining life." /d. at 58. 

In Duwamish Warehouse v. Hoppe, 102 Wn.2d 249, 684 

P.2d 703 (1984), Duwamish Warehouse appealed the valuation of 

its leasehold interest on lands owned by the Port of Seattle. The 

assessor valued the warehouse at its full market value, without 

considering the Port of Seattle's tax-exempt reversionary interest. 

The Court noted where "fee interest is privately owned" the assessor 

may impose a single tax on the entire estate; but where the fee 

interest is owned by the government (and therefore tax-exempt), the 
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possessory interest must be taxed separately from the reversionary 

interest. /d. at 253. The Court noted the statute required the 

assessor to tax the property at "full and fair value" and where there 

is "any doubt as to the meaning of a tax statute. it must be construed 

against the taxing power." /d. at 254 (emphasis added). 

Ordinarily, full and fair value means the amount a 
willing buyer would pay a seller who is willing but not 
obligated to sell. ... Where private land is leased, the 
willing buyer is contemplated to be purchasing the 
entire fee, including leasehold and improvements .... In 
the circumstances of state-owned interests in the land, 
however, the State's ownership interest cannot be 
purchased. Thus, a willing buyer would not logically 
pay a price for the entire fee .... 

/d. at 254. The Court concluded the reversionary interest must be 

considered in determining the value of a leasehold interest: 

To disregard the fact that this building reverts to the 
Port at the end of the lease term, long before its useful 
life is up, would be to disregard a factor which plainly 
would affect the price negotiations between a willing 
buyer and a willing seller. 

/d. at 256-57. 

Washington requires the assessment of leasehold 

possessory interests to account for the period of the actual lease 

(Pier 67), as well as the tax-exempt reversionary interest 

(Duwamish). Here, DOR chose to ignore both of these mandates 

and used a methodology that assumed a perpetual lease and per se 
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set the Port's tax-exempt reversionary interest as zero - thereby 

imposing taxes assessed on the Port's exempt interest against UAL. 

The Court of Appeals disregarded Pier 67 and Duwamish 

because they involved challenges to valuation, not requests for 

administrative refunds. Appendix A, pp. 7-8. However, nothing in 

Pier 67 or Duwamish supports such a limitation of their reasoning 

or application. 

DOR argued "where the evidence suggested that the lease 

would continue to be renewed into the foreseeable future, the 

government owner's reversionary interest was considered minimal." 

CP 29-92. However, Pier 67 does not allow for this speculation. 

UAL's lease with the Port was a six-year lease with no renewal 

options, set to expire on December 21, 2012. CP 579-693; CP 574-

578. The fact that airline companies may enter into new leases at 

the conclusion of each lease term does not mean the airlines occupy 

the same property in each consecutive lease. CP 737-740. The 

lease provides UAL's right to use portions of the airport may change 

from time to time. CP 579-693. The only property UAL has a right 

to possess at any given time is expressly stated in the lease in effect 

at the time. It is absurd for DOR to assume a hypothetical perpetual 

term whereby the taxable property is greater than that which is 
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granted under the terms of a lease, or for the Court of Appeals to 

approve such an assumption as an exercise in "valuation" or 

"appraisal judgment." 

The Court of Appeals found: 

The use of an appraisal method that assigned a nil 
value to the port's reversionary interest after 
consideration of all the circumstances cannot be 
characterized as the manifest error of assessing 
property exempted by law from taxation." Appendix 
A, p.10. 

The Court of Appeals also disregarded the expert testimony 

of Mr. Hunnicutt. Instead, the Court of Appeals sided with the 

moving party (DOR), characterizing the dispute and the expert 

testimony as relating only to "valuation." 

However, Hunnicutt did not need to perform a separate 

appraisal of the property. He merely reviewed the calculation to 

determine that a perpetuity model such as the direct capitalization 

approach incorrectly assessed value to the exempt reversionary 

interest. No appraisal judgment was required to identify the error. 

Ordering DOR to correct its mistake falls within the intent of 

the "manifest error" provisions and does not require valuation 

judgment or a separate appraisal. Correcting a calculation does not 

require valuation judgment or a new appraisal. An example 
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commonly used to describe the intent of the provision is to say that 

the county's appraisal included an element that did not exist, such as 

additional square footage, a fireplace, a pool, etc. The DOR erred in 

its description of the exempt reversionary interest by asserting that it 

did not exist or the value was "nil." This disagreement is a factual 

issue that does not require appraisal judgement. Under Duwamish 

and Pier 67, either there was or was not a stated lease term, and 

either there is or is not a reversionary interest. DOR was required 

to account for these factors and failed to do so. The Court of Appeals 

erred in affirming the Trial Court's dismissal of UAL's claim. UAL's 

tax assessment can be readily recalculated after accounting for the 

actual lease term, just as a similar correction would be required if the 

county or assessing jurisdiction was ordered to correct for square 

footage, fireplace, pool, or other erroneous character of the 

assessed property. 

Pursuant to Pier 67 and Duwamish, DOR did not have the 

legal right to ignore the actual lease and erred when it assumed the 

taxable lessee's interest would continue to perpetuity. And, to the 

extent DOR claimed it somehow accounted for the port's 

reversionary interest but deemed it "nominal," this characterization 

fails because: (1) it is contradicted by admissions in its own internal 
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documents where it acknowledges that the methodology assume the 

reversionary interest is "nil" (vs. "nominal"); and (2) even if it were 

legally permissible to assume the reversionary interest were even 

"nominal," there would still be some value which had to be accounted 

for, to ensure DOR was not assessing and imposing possessory 

interest taxes on UAL for the Port's tax-exempt property. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

By upholding the trial court's summary judgment, the Court of 

Appeals erroneously disregarded Washington Supreme Court 

precedent of Pier 67 and Duwamish, and allowed to stand DOR's 

taxation of non-taxable property interests, in violation of RCW 

84.69.020(2) and WAC 458-14-005(14). 

DOR's own witnesses and internal documents admit the 

Port's tax-exempt reversionary interest was treated as "nil" under the 

assessment model utilized from 2006-2011. By treating the

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