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

V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals 

opinion involves nothing more than a straightforward application of the 

statutory restrictions on the particular avenue for seeking a refund of 

property taxes used by United. That statute prohibits refunds based on a 

dispute over valuation of property. There is no conflict among opinions 

from Washington courts, and no reason for this Court's review. 

Persons seeking a refund of property taxes may bring an action in 

superior court under RCW 84.68.020, or may seek administrative review 

by county officials under RCW 84.69.030. The procedural requirements 
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under these two refund chapters differ in material respects, as do the 

nature of the allowed claims. In order to bring an action in superior court 

to recover unlawful or excessive property tax assessments, the taxpayer 

must have paid the disputed tax under written protest. RCW 84.68.020. 

In addition, the action must be initiated by filing a complaint on or before 

June 30 of the year following the year the disputed taxes were payable. 

RCW 84.68.060. 

United did not pay its 2009 though 2011 property taxes under 

written protest, nor did it file a complaint in superior court within the time 

permitted under RCW 84.68.060. As a result, the "payment under protest" 

refund chapter did not apply. Instead, United sought a refund under the 

administrative'refund chapter, RCW 84.69. That chapter allows for an 

administrative refund claim to be filed with the county treasurer without 

the need to pay the tax under written protest. RCW 84.69.170. However, 

counties are authorized to refund taxes only in specified circumstances, 

and they may not refund any taxes based on "any error in determining the 

valuation of property," except in specific circumstances that are not 

applicable here. RCW 84.69.020 (emphasis added). In addition, the claim 

for refund must be verified by the person who paid the tax, must be filed 

within three years from the due date of the tax payment sought to be 

refunded, and must state the ground upon which the refund is claimed. 
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RCW 84.69.030(1). The person claiming the refund must first exhaust 

their administrative remedies with the county before seeking a refund in 

court. RCW 84.69.130. And judicial review is limited to only those 

grounds asserted in the administrative claim for refund. Id 

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the statutory requirements 

in RCW 84.69.020 and .030 when concluding that United was not entitled 

to a refund of property taxes under the administrative refund chapter. That 

chapter does not permit a county official to refund taxes based on a 

disagreement over the value of property. Valuation disputes, as the Court 

of Appeals correctly held, must be brought under the "payment under 

protest" refund chapter, Chapter 84.68 RCW. 

A. United Has Not Established That Its Petition Meets Any Of 
The Requirements For Review Specified In RAP 13.4(b ). 

United does not assert that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts 

with any other Court of Appeals decision or that the case involves a 

significant question of constitutional law or an issue of substantial public 

interest. See RAP 13.4(b)(2) (3)-(4). Its only claim that arguably could 

support discretionary review under RAP 13 .4(b) is its assertion that the 

Court of Appeals "refused to apply" this Court's holdings in Pier 67, Inc. 

v. King County and Duwamish Warehouse v. Hoppe. Petition at 9 (citing 

Pier 67, Inc. v. King County, 78 Wn.2d 48,469 P.2d 902 (1970), and 
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Duwamish Warehouse v. Hoppe, 102 Wn.2d 249, 684 P.2d 703 (1984)). 

United's argument is without merit, and nothing in the Court of Appeals 

decision otherwise warrants this Court's review. 

1. The Court of Appeals considered Pier 67 and Duwamish 
Warehouse and correctly concluded that neither case 
controls here. 

The Court of Appeals addressed and rejected United's contention 

that Pier 67 and Duwamish Warehouse were somehow controlling in this 

appeal. United Airlines, 2016 WL 3190515, at *3-4. Both of those 

decisions involved "a challenge to valuation" of leased property by 

taxpayers that had paid the disputed taxes under written protest and sought 

relief under the "paid under protest" refund chapter. Id at *4. 

Consequently, neither case presented the specific issue raised in this 

appeal-whether the administrative refund chapter permits the county to 

refund taxes based on a valuation dispute. The Court of Appeals did not 

"refuse to apply" Pier 67 and Duwamish Warehouse; it cogently explained 

that the valuation discussion in those cases "is not on point in this case" 

because county officials are barred by statute from refunding property tax 

based on valuation disputes. !d. at *3. "An error in valuation can be 

redressed only if the taxpayer pays the tax under protest and brings suit 

under chapter 84.68 RCW." Id at *4. 
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In addition, neither Pier 67 nor Duwamish held that assessors are 

required to apply a specific appraisal method when valuing a lessee's 

interest in government-owed property, or that the valuation process is a 

purely mechanical endeavor that can be accomplished by county officials 

without utilizing appraisal judgment. In fact, both Pier 67 and Duwamish 

undercut United's assertion that the refund at issue can be computed 

without revaluing its interest in the property it leased from the Port. 

In Pier 67, this Court explained the general parameters pertaining 

to the valuation of a possessory interest in government-owned property. 

The value of the taxable possessory interest is the amount a willing buyer 

would pay a willing seller for the lessee's rights in the property without 

any reduction on account of the rent payments or other debts owed by the 

lessee. Pier 67, Inc., 78 Wn.2d at 57-58. Valuing those rights requires the 

exercise of appraisal judgment, and "the assessor has a number of 

appraisal methods at his disposal" in measuring fair market value. !d. No 

single method is mandatory. !d. Factors the assessor should consider 

include the probable remaining life of the lease and any option to renew 

the lease. !d. But these factors are not exclusive. /d. at 58. Rather, the 

assessor "must consider all relevant circumstances pertinent and helpful in 

making his assessment within the ambit ofthe applicable statutes." Id 
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As Pier 67 demonstrates, valuing a lessee's interest in government

owned property is not a mechanical or ministerial endeavor. Rather, the 

appraiser must exercise judgment. This process leaves "ample room for 

the necessary exercise of discretion on the part of the assessor." Folsom v. 

County a/Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 256, 271, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988). 

Duwamish Warehouse is consistent with Pier 67. The dispute in 

Duwamish involved the valuation of a warehouse built by Duwamish 

Warehouse Company on land it leased from the Port of Seattle. 

Duwamish Warehouse, 102 Wn.2d at 250. The lease agreement provided 

that ownership and possession of the warehouse was to revert to the Port 

at the conclusion of the 26-year lease term. Id The sole issue was 

whether the Port's reversionary interest in the warehouse (i.e., its right to 

the future ownership of that warehouse) was a factor the assessor was 

required to consider in determining the value of the lessee's taxable 

interest in the warehouse during the lease term. !d. at 251. This Court 

concluded that the Port's reversionary interest must be considered. Id at 

256. The Court did not hold, however, that the assessor was required to 

employ a specific valuation method, or that determining the value of a 

reversionary interest is an easy, mechanical computation that requires no 

appraisaljudgment. United's implied claim thatDuwamish Warehouse 

somehow entitles it to the property tax refund it is seeking is nonsense. 
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The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that both Pier 67 and 

Duwamish Warehouse involved valuation disputes that cannot be 

redressed under the plain language of the administrative property tax 

refund chapter. United Airlines, 2016 WL 3190515, at *3-4. Rather, to 

properly challenge an alleged error in valuing property, United was 

required to pay the disputed tax under written protest and then file suit 

under the "paid under protest" refund chapter, a step the company 

admittedly did not take. VRP 18, ln. 24. Pier 67 and Duwamish do not 

hold otherwise. Consequently, there is no conflict. 

2. United's disagreement with the Department's valuation 
methods does not warrant further review. 

United contends that the Department of Revenue failed to properly 

consider the Port of Seattle's reversionary interest when valuing United's 

interest in the property it leased from the Port. Petition at 11. Even if 

United's contention was true-which it is not-its refund claim was 

properly rejected because RCW 84.69.020 specifically prohibits arefund 

based on a dispute over the value of property. The Court of Appeals 

correctly applied the plain language of the statute to the facts ofthis case, 

and further review is not warranted. 

In valuing United's interest in the Port-owned property for the 

2009 through 2011 tax periods, the Department employed the "residual 
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method," which is one of three recognized methods for valuing possessory 

interests. CP 053. That valuation method involves two steps. In the first 

step, the value of the lessee's beneficial rights in the leased property is 

computed using a "direct capitalization" model that capitalized the net 

lease payments for a single year into an estimate of value. CP 174. In the 

second step, the present value of the government-owner's reversionary 

interest is considered and subtracted if any of that value was captured in 

step one. CP 175. 

When estimating the present value of the government-owner's 

reversionary interest, the Department considers both the stated term of the 

lease agreement and the established course of dealing between the non

exempt lessee and the government lessor. !d. When the facts suggest that 

the lease will continue to be renewed into the foreseeable future, the 

government-owner's reversionary interest is considered to be of no 

material value. !d. 

With respect to United, the Department concluded that United's 

lease with the Port would continue to be renewed into the foreseeable 

future and, as a result, the Port's reversionary interest was estimated to be 

of no material value. United has leased property from the Port since the 

mid-1940s when Sea-Tac International Airport was constructed. CP 112. 

Some of the leases have been of relatively short duration, but they have 
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always been renewed. From this roughly 60-year course of dealing, it was 

reasonable for the Department to conclude that United would continue to 

lease operating property from the Port well after the conclusion of the 

express lease term. Moreover, consistent with the holding in Pier 67, the 

course of dealing between the lessee and the tax exempt government 

owner of the property is relevant in determining the "probable remaining 

life" of the lessee's interest in the leased property. Pier 67, 78 Wn.2d at 

58. If the law were otherwise, a lessee such as United could easily 

manipulate its property tax liability by entering into a series of short-term 

lease agreements. 

The Department considered the Port's reversionary interest, 

concluding that it had no material impact on the value of United's interest 

in the leased property. That conclusion was entirely rational in light of· 

United's longstanding practice of leasing Port property, and the lack of 

evidence suggesting that United would discontinue the practice anytime in 

the foreseeable future. There was no error. 

Moreover, even if the Department had erred in valuing United's 

possessory interest in Port-owned property, that error could be corrected 

only by revaluing that interest through the exercise of appraisal skill and 

judgment. There is no mechanical or ministerial substitute authorized 

under Washington law for valuing property. To the contrary, this Court 
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has consistently recognized that the valuation of property for tax purposes 

involves considerable appraisal judgment and discretion. E.g., Folsom, 

111 Wn.2d at 271; Sahalee Country Club, Inc. v. Board ofTax Appeals, 

108 Wn.2d 26, 36,735 P.2d 1320 (1987). No "'rule of thumb' can be 

formulated to fit every situation." Pier 67, 78 Wn.2d at 58. Instead, the 

assessor has discretion to select the appropriate appraisal methods, and the 

assessor's value estimate will be upheld absent clear, cogent, and 

convincing evidence that the property was overvalued. RCW 84.40.0301. 

The King County Assessor correctly understood that United's 

administrative refund claim involved a valuation dispute and correctly 

denied the claim on that basis. CP 148. The superior court and Court of 

Appeals have reviewed and affirmed the Assessor's decision. There is no 

need for further review. 

B. If The Court Accepts Review, It Should Address United's 
Failure To Verify Its Administrative Refund Claim. 

If this Court does accept review of the decision of the Court of 

Appeals, it should also address United's failure to verify its administrative 

refund claim as required by RCW 84.69.030(1)(a). This issue was fully 

briefed by the Department but was not decided by the Court of Appeals. 

Pursuant to RAP 13 .4( d), the Department seeks review of this alternative 

reason for affirming the trial court and the King County Assessor. 
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The Legislature has strictly limited administrative refund claims to 

those complying with stated procedural requirements. RCW 84.69.030; 

RCW 84.69.130. One of the specified requirements is that the claim must 

be "[v]erified by the person who paid the tax, [or by] the person's 

guardian, executor or administrator." RCW 84.69.030(1)(a). United did 

not comply with this requirement. See CP 120 (refund claim not verified 

and was not even signed by an officer or employee of United). 

Requiring the person that paid the tax to verify an administrative 

refund claim under RCW 84.69.030(1)(a) is important because the county 

official reviewing the claim must rely on the veracity of the information 

provided and decide the matter without a hearing or trial to determine 

disputed issues of fact. The requirement is not burdensome and has been 

part of the administrative refund chapter since its inception. See Laws of 

1957, ch. 120, § 3. United simply failed to comply. 

An action for judicial review under RCW 84.69.120 must be 

dismissed when the taxpayer has not complied with the statutory 

procedures for obtaining relief. Coluccio v. King County, 82 Wn. App. 45, 

51-52, 917 P.2d 145 (1996). United's failure to comply with the 

verification requirement ofRCW 84.69.030(1)(a) provides an alternative 

basis to uphold the trial court and deny United's refund claim. 
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VI. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals decision applied the plain language of the 

property tax administrative refund statute to the undisputed facts in the 

record. The decision raises no issue of constitutional law or of substantial 

' 
public importance, and does not conflict with any decision from any court. 

This Court should deny review.